FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
7/7/2022 2:42 PM

No. 37512-9-III

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/8/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

SUPREME COURT 101073-7
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WALL STREET APARTMENTS, LLC and ALAA ELKHARWILY, M.D.

Appellants,

V.

ALL STAR PROPERTY MANAGEMENTMENT, LLC, ALL STAR CONSTRUCTION, LLC, GIEVE PARKER, individually and on behalf of her marital community,

Respondents,

JOHN DOES AND JANE DOES I through X,

Defendants.

PETITION FOR REVIEW OF APPELLANTS

Brian K. Dykman WA Bar No. 22986 222 W. Mission Ave., Ste. 246 Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 324-0238 Attorney for Appellants

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Wall Street Apartments, LLC and Alaa Elkharwily,
MD, ask this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals
decisions terminating review designated in Part B of this
petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Appellants seek review of the decision of the Court of Appeals, filed April 19, 2022, and the Order denying motion for reconsideration and amending opinion filed June 7, 2022. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-20. A copy of the order denying motion for reconsideration and amending opinion is in the Appendix at pages A-21 through A-22.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Whether the Supreme Court may order remand to the Court of Appeals and direct withdrawal of its Opinion filed April 19, 2022, and amended June 7, 2022, or whether the Supreme Court in the interests of public policy and judicial economy should direct withdrawal of the Opinion and proceed with the review of this action.
- B. Following a bench trial, whether the doctrine of judicial admission preempts the standard of substantial evidence on review, thus placing the appellant court in the same

position as the trial court so as to apply a de novo standard of review.

- C. Whether the oral testimony of a party to the action deposed under CR 30(b), as a corporate co-owner absolutely binds the corporation to judicial admission that ultimately decides the issue or if it is treated like any other testimony that could be contradicted through other corporate witness.
- D. Whether a plaintiff on a Consumer Protection Act claim of failure to give pre-lien notice must prove the negative in response to a summary judgment motion.
- E. Whether an award of attorney fees to a party is unjustified as a matter of public policy when that party committed wrongful acts which prompted the request for trial de novo even if said party prevails.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In the summer of 2012, the parties entered into a management agreement under which Defendants All Star

Property Management would manage 6 units of the 36 units in the Wall Street's building. Ex. P1. The agreement required

Defendants to use "due diligence in the management of the premises..." Id. at ¶ 1, 7, 9.

Central to this case is the removal of the fire alarm system in the evening of 27th of September, 2012. After a bench trial, the trial court held that there was no evidence that Defendants, after Gieve Parker, co-owner of All Star, sent a text

message "I quit" on September 27, 2012, at 10:25 am, "assumed responsibility for the fire alarm or expected or knew it was taken down." CP 1097-1115 at ¶28.

The court found that on September 26, 2012 that it was not clear if there was any plan to start demolition of the lobby wall that day so as to make the Lobby more open. Most of the wall, Trina and door was taken down on September 26, 2012. The remaining part of the wall, and the fire alarm box and panel on which they were hung, were not taken down, disconnected nor removed until the evening of September, 27. On September 27, at 10:25 am Parker sent a text a message "I quit" over a dispute over the phone with Plaintiffs. CP. 1382-1407. A lot of tenants left the building after the taking down of the wall and fire system. Parker, All Star corporates' owner, testified under oath at the L and I Board that she had no personal knowledge nor involvement in the removal of the fire alarm system. The corporate officer testified she filed a lien on the property for a little over \$ 1,500. She conceded she had "all the keys" to the building including "the boiler room" which had the fire system control unit. RP 426-427. She conceded her claims she made against Elkharwily two weeks after the removal of the fire alarm system for harassment was dismissed with prejudice. RP 230: 21:23.

Plaintiffs filed a suit for multiple claims and damages under breach of contract, covenant of good faith, consumer protection act among other claims. Defendants counterclaimed for little over \$ 1,300. On summary judgment, the breach of contract and covenant of good faith survived. The other claims including the claim under the Consumer Protection Act for failure to provide the prerequisite pre lien notices required by RCW 18.27.114 were dismissed for "lack of supporting proof". The parties went to arbitration which awarded Plaintiffs a little over \$ 7,000 in damages. During arbitration, Parker for the first time testified about an email she alleged was sent to her from Mr. Kimbrel whom she claimed he worked for Fire West Company. The email expressly shows he was called to disconnect the fire boxes and he was on the phone with Parker on the day he disconnected fire system. Parker maintained that her call to Mr. Kimbrel was before she quit. Plaintiffs moved for trial de novo, deposed Parker and requested her to produce the alleged email. During deposition, Parker, a corporate officer, testified that a lot of her testimony at the L and I was "wrong". RP 421:1. At trial, Parker's oral testimony detailed her corporate's knowledge and the take upon the removal of the fire alarm system after the "quit" message. Parker asserted she was still the "property manager," even after she had sent the text she quit. RP 407:1-3. She testified that the phone call she previously testified made to Kimbrel before she quit was in fact made only after she had quit and after most of the wall, the trim, and door went down but before the rest of the wall with the fire system came down, RP 418:2-4, 417:5-7. She testified she kept telling Dr. Elkharwily to call the number on the fire box after she herself admittedly removed the fire box and panel. RP 419:12-17.

Q. Okay. So if we look at the -- when you were telling Dr.. Elkharwily -- when you were telling Elkharwily that the fire panel was not your problem, "You should call the box, the number on the box," and so forth. you had moved them out by then?

A. Yes.

Following a bench trial, the court returned a decision in favor of Defendants for a little over \$1,300 and awarded attorney fees including post arbitration fees because Plaintiff failed to improve his position at trial. In post-trial motions, Defendants did not dispute nor deny in a required response the purported Kimbrel email was fake and fabricated by Defendants.[†] CP 1139-1183. p 42:1-3.

¹ The email is Appendix Ex 3 to Plaintiffs' motion to reconsider, attached here as Appendix, A-27.

On July 24, 2020, the trial court issued its order and amended findings in response to Plaintiff's post-trial motions for reconsideration, etc. CP 1382-1407. The trial court held that the amendments to its findings did not change the disposition of the case. The trial court's order on reconsideration and amended findings were promptly furnished to the court of appeal upon its direction. Order filed October 20, 2021. In its Opinion filed April 19, 2022, the Court of Appeals erroneously found that the trial court's post-trial orders and amended findings were not part of the record, and did not consider the amended findings in review of this case. Opinion, at 8 n 2 (App. A-8). Upon Plaintiffs' motion for reconsideration, etc. filed May 9, 2022, the court of appeals amended its opinion by order filed June 7, 2022, acknowledging the error over the missing records of the amended findings and the post-trial order. (App. A-21-22.) The court did not make any other change to the Opinion. There are still multiple motions to modify rulings by the clerk of the court of appeals.

The facts pertinent to the issues on appeal will be reviewed with each issue

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

- A. The Supreme Court should accept review on whether it may remand the case to the Court of Appeals and direct withdrawal of its Opinion filed April 19, 2022, and amended June 7, 2022, or whether the Supreme Court in the interest of the public policy and judicial economy direct withdraw the Opinion and proceed with its own review of this action.
 - (i) The Opinion' is in conflict with the Supreme Court precedents as well as the constitutional role of the court of appeals.

It has been long held by the Supreme Court that, "It is the function and duty of the Appellate court to review the claimed errors of the trial court, whether of law or of fact. *Malnati v. Ramstead*, 50 Wn.2d 105, 309 P.2d 754 (1957), quoting with approval from *Knatvold v. Rydman*, 28 Wn.2d 178, 182 P.2d 9 (1947).

In reviewing the Court of Appeals Opinion, the Supreme Court is generally limited to questions presented to and determined by that court and to claims of error directed to that court's resolution of such issues. *Peoples Nat'l Bank v.*Peterson, 82 Wn.2d 822, 830, 514 P.2d 159 (1973); Wood v.

Postelthwaite, 82 Wn.2d 387, 510 P.2d 1109 (1973). The Supreme Court then noted in State v. Williams, 149 Wn. 2d 143 (Wash. 2003) "If an appellate court declines to review a trial court decision, and thus fails to reach the merits of the decision, it cannot be said to have affirmed that decision." The remedy is therefore to remand to the Court of Appeals to determine the unresolved issues. State v. Cunningham, 93 Wn. 2d 823 (Wash. 1980).

In the instant case, the court of appeal erred by rendering and issue its Opinion,

- 1) when it failed to include the records of the established facts of the case as part of its review after promptly furnishing them upon its direction.²; and when it
- 2) failed to review the assigned errors in light of the established facts after having acknowledged its error and having included the missing records as part of its review; and when it

² Court order filed October, 20, 2021. Declaration of Counsel Brian Dykman filed May 9, 2022.

- 3) failed to review the assigned error of denying Plaintiffs' post-trial motions. ³ The question was directed by the court to be part of its review but was left unresolved; and
- 4) when it relied in rendering its Opinion on false and fabricated records that were not supposed to be part of the trial court or its records, were not ever served upon Plaintiffs, nor were they authenticated. CP 1327-1329. Said disingenuous fabricated unreliable evidence infested the records of the court of appeals, and continue, in lieu of the genuine true records of the trial court. ⁴, ⁵, ⁶.

³ Assignment of error number 2; Opening Brief 38-43; Respondents' Brief 24-32; Appellants' Reply 21-35.

⁴ The court of appeals denied Plaintiffs' motion to correct the records and to purge the false records before it amended its order to include the other missed records of the established facts to be part of the review. Because the Supreme Court does not review rulings made by the clerk, Plaintiffs filed motion to modify on June 7, 2022. No decision has been rendered yet.

⁵ See motion to reconsider filed in this court Appendix Ex 3.

⁶ The true and genuine record included the email Mrs. Parker alleged was sent to her by Mr. Kimbrel. The email is critical to the court of appeal review of the trial court actions and decisions. The purported email was part of the records of the trial court and it explains the trial court s evolving position and findings in post-trial motions and its judgement of attorney fees. See Plaintiff's motion to reconsider filed May 9 at

It is well established by the Supreme Court that when the trial court amends its findings, and the revised findings are not disputed, it is unnecessary to determine whether there is substantial evidence to support the findings. They are the established facts of the case. West Coast Airlines Inc. v. Miner's Aircraft Engine Serv., Inc., 66 Wn.2d 513, 403 P.2d 833 (1965); Weiss v. Weiss, 75 Wn.2d 596, 452 P.2d 748 (1969). When such established facts become missing from the record, the appellate review becomes impossible. Beach v. Board of Adjustment, 73 Wn.2d 343, 438 P.2d 617 (1968). When a full and complete record of established facts had been promptly furnished upon the direction of the appellant court for review but became missing from the records considered by the review panel, the appellate court may not speculate upon the existence of said facts that do not appear in the record it considered.

paragraphs 10 at page 16-17. and last paragraph at page 7 and 8. The reliance of the court on the false and fabricated evidence, which was not served nor authenticated nor was it supposed to be part of the records of the trial court, was discovered by Plaintiff on the day he filed his motion to reconsider the 19th of April Opinion, May 9, 2022. See footnote 19 of said motion and the unopposed Declarations of Mr. Brian Dykman, Mr. Rick Wylie and Alaa Elkharwily, MD attached as Appendix Ex D, E, and F to the motion filed May 25, 2022.

Falcone v. Perry, 68 Wn.2d 909, 915, 416 P.2d 690 (1966).

Beach, supra. Merely acknowledging the error of the missing records and amending the Opinion⁷ to acknowledge said error without review, analysis or comment defeats the purpose of review by the appellate court. State v. Williams, 149 Wn. 2d 143 (Wash. 2003). What is more, the court of appeal failed to make any review analysis to the error of law of the assumption of duty under the public policy, statute, contract and common law, which had been assigned and argued in detail by Plaintiffs.⁸

Without review of the established facts or the assigned error of law the trial court becomes Supreme.

It has been long held that it is the function and duty of the Appellate court to review the claimed errors of the trial court, whether of law or of fact. *Malnati v. Ramstead*, 50 Wn.2d 105, 309 P.2d 754 (1957), quoting with approval from *Knatvold v. Rydman*, 28 Wn.2d 178, 182 P.2d 9 (1947). See WA Const. Art. 4, Sec. 4 and 30.

⁷ Order filed June 7, 2022 denying motion to reconsider and order amending Opinion filed April 19, 2022.

⁸ Appellants' Opening Brief at 5-13 Opinion at 10-11.

Additionally, the court of appeal reliance on the fabricated and unauthenticated evidence that was not supposed to be part of the trial or the court of appeal records places grave challenge to the constitutionality of the Court of Appeals' Opinion. "Fundamental fairness is absent from any proceeding "in which evidence is allowed which lacks reliability." *State v. Bartholomew*, 101 Wn.2d 631, 640, 683 P.2d 1079 (1984). *State v. Rupe*, 108 Wn. 2d 734 (Wash. 1987).

This challenge continues and will continue to extend to the Supreme Court review as long as the fabricated evidence is still infesting the records and not purged nor replaced with the correct records. In their constitutional role, courts ultimately have the obligation of ensuring those before them receive due process of law. See, e.g., *State v. Oppelt*, 172 Wash.2d 285, 288, 257 P.3d 653 (2011); *City of Redmond v. Moore*, 151 Wash.2d 664, 677, 91 P.3d 875 (2004). And like the due process protection, the Washington doctrine of appearance of fairness is challenged as well: It is axiomatic that, whenever the law requires a hearing of any sort as a condition precedent to the power to proceed, it means a fair hearing, a hearing not only

fair in substance, but fair in appearance as well. In re Smith v. Skagit Cy., 75 Wn.2d 715, 739, 453 P.2d 832 (1969).

(ii) The public interest will be served.

In addition to the challenges compromising the fair and due process, the review of the instant case by the Supreme Court will serve the public interest because of the opportunity presented to resolve the other issues raised in this petition which have not been clearly determined in Washington, such as how to treat the testimony by a corporate deponent, the applicability of public policy on post-arbitration attorney fees even when the party does not improve his position. Also see the clarifications needed to lower courts regarding standards of review in summary judgement under the consumer protection act and the standard of review following bench trial.

- B. This Court Should Accept Review to Clarify Whether the Doctrine of Judicial Admission May Be Considered to Establish the Standard of Review Following a Bench Trial.
 - (i), (ii) The Court of Appeals Decision Conflicts with This Court's Precedents and Division Two precedents.

The court of appeal held that "[T]his court must defer to the finder of fact in resolving conflicting evidence and credibility determinations."; "Wall Street's arguments on appeal fail to acknowledge the applicable standard of review."

Opinion at 10. *State v. N.B.*, 7 Wn. App. 2d 831, 837, 436 P.3d 358 (2019) that the court of appeal relied on does not address the applicable standard under the doctrine of judicial admission. In this instant case there is oral testimony by the same corporate officer, Parker who previously denied any knowledge or involvement, admittedly detailing the corporate knowledge and involvement in the removal of the fire alarm system after the quit message.

Review of a bench trial is a two-step process. First, the court reviews findings of fact to determine whether they are supported by substantial evidence and, if so, whether the findings support the conclusions of law. *Hegwine v. Longview Fibre Co., 132 Wn. App. 546, 555, 132 P.3d 789 (2006)*. The court reviews conclusions of law de novo. *Id. at 556*.

Absent judicial admission by a party, on a question of fact, before the trier of the fact is warranted in finding the fact established, there must be substantial evidence in its support.

This . . . mean[s] that a disputed question of fact, by whatever character of evidence it is sought to be proven, must have in its

support that character of evidence which would convince an unprejudiced thinking mind of the truth of the fact, before it can be said to be established. *Thomson v. Virginia Mason Hosp.*, 152 Wash. 297, 300-01, 277 P. 691 (1929) (emphasis added);" in re Davis v. Microsoft Corp., 149 Wn. 2d 521 (Wash. 2003).

Judicially admitted fact however conclusively establishes the evidence and withdraws the fact from the issue. As Justice Madsen has noted, "judicial admissions by a party have the effect of withdrawing a fact from issue and dispensing wholly with the need for proof of the fact.' "Key Design, Inc. v. Moser, 138 Wn.2d 875, 893, 983 P.2d 653, 993 P.2d 900 (1999) (Madsen, J, concurring in part and dissenting in part) Such admissions are "'proof possessing the highest possible probative value. Indeed, facts judicially admitted are facts established not only beyond the need of evidence to prove them, but beyond the power of evidence to controvert them." Mukilteo Ret. Apartments, L.L.C. v. Mukilteo Investors L.P., 176 Wash. App. 244 (Wash. Ct. App. 2013).

The distinction is therefore very important because not

only does judicially admitted fact preempt the deference to the trial court as a fact finder, it also frees the appellate court from being bound to the trial court's findings of facts. And it therefore places the appellate court in as good a position as the trial court to judge the evidence by eliminating the need for fact finding. When an appellate court is in as good a position as the trial court to judge the evidence, [the] review is de novo. *In Re Rosier*, 105 Wn.2d 606, 616, 717 P.2d 1353 (1986).

The distinction therefore resolves confusion Amongst

Lower Courts About the Exception to Authority to Exercise

Discretion of credibility determination over two inconsistent or

conflicting testimonies by the same party-opponent, one is false

and the other is true.

What is more, a decision by the Supreme Court will resolve confusion in the lower courts about the limits on their authority to exercise discretion over inconsistent testimony by the same party, where one testimony must be false and the other true – the admission prevails.

(iii) The Public Interest Will Be Served.

Not only is there a conflict of authority, but the issue has

substantial public importance. The standard of substantial evidence is frequently invoked.

Resolving the confusion amongst the lower courts about the exception to credibility determination by clarifying the applicability of the doctrine of juridical admission will "promote both efficiency and economy in resolving disputes..... litigants need not expend effort in investigations concerning it nor incur expense in presenting evidence to prove it. Judicial administration is also aided. Admissions reduce the time required to try a case. Finally, admissions encourage litigants to evaluate realistically the hazards of trial, and thus tend to promote settlements." Lakes v. von der Mehden, 117 Wash.App. 212, 218, 70 P.3d 154 (2003) (quoting 8A CHARLES ALAN WRIGHT ET AL, FEDERAL PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE § 2252, at 522 (2d ed. 1994)); Peralta v. State, 187 Wash. 2d 888 (Wash. 2017).

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