FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/10/2022 8:00 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 101073-7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 37512-9-III

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WALL STREET APARTMENTS, LLC, a Washington limited liability company, and ALAA ELKHARWILY, M.D.,

Plaintiffs/Appellants,

v.

ALL STAR PROPERTY MANAGEMENT, LLC, a Washington limited liability company; GIEVE PARKER individually and on behalf of her marital community; and JOHN DOES AND JANE DOES I through X,

Defendants/Respondents.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

STAMPER RUBENS, P.S.

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

Plaintiffs seek review of the Court of Appeals decision under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4). To obtain review under RAP 13.4(b), Plaintiffs must persuade this Court that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with a decision of this Court or another division of the Court of Appeals, or that it presents an issue of substantial public interest. *Id.*, *see also*, *In re Pers. Restraint of Coats*, 173 Wn.2d 1213, 132-33, 267 P.3d 324 (2011).

Plaintiffs cannot meet the criteria of RAP 13.4(b). Plaintiffs' briefing fails to identify specific decisions of this

Court or the Court of Appeals that allegedly conflict with the Court of Appeals decision. Furthermore, Plaintiffs' sole argument that public policy interests are implicated is premised on the mere fact that the Court of Appeals ruled against them. This is not the standard. Defendants respectfully request that Plaintiffs' Petition for Review be denied.

B. The Court of Appeals did consider the trial court's Amended Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law in reaching its decision.

Clearly, the Court of Appeals did consider the Amended Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law entered at the trial court level. The amendment to the Court of Appeals' decision specifically refers to them: "The trial court denied Wall Street's motions for reconsideration, a new trial, and relief from judgment, but granted in part the motion for amended findings of fact and conclusions of law. See CP 1382-1407. The trial court's amended findings did not change the case's ultimate disposition." See Wall St. Apartments, LLC, 21 Wash. App. 2d 1057 at 3 (2022), as amended on denial of reconsideration (June 7, 2022).

The claim that the Court of Appeals failed to consider the applicable findings of fact in this matter is a willful misrepresentation of the record.

C. The Court of Appeals need not change its analysis based on the Amended Findings.

Plaintiffs claim that the Court of Appeals, by adding reference to the Amended Findings, erred by "acknowledging the error of the missing records...without review." However, the Court of Appeals explicitly stated in the amended opinion that the language of the Amended Findings did not alter its original opinion – the Court of Appeals is not required to write a new opinion merely to accommodate Plaintiffs' desires.

D. The Court of Appeals need not supplement the record to make its decision.

Plaintiffs next argue in footnotes that the Court of Appeals relied on improper evidence and should have supplemented the record after reaching a decision. Specifically, that the Court should have added new documents that were not identified in the Designation of Clerks Papers, and which were never relied on by

the Court of Appeals. Plaintiffs argue that the Declaration of Alaa Elkharwily, provided at CP 1327-1329, should be stricken and a different declaration of Elkharwily transmitted to supplement the record. There is no valid reason why Plaintiffs failed to examine the record on appeal for nearly two years, despite filing three substantive briefs in the Court of Appeals prior to raising that alleged "error." The Court of Appeals properly prevented Plaintiffs from causing delay from their lack of reasonable diligence, particularly given that as the appealing party, Plaintiffs were obligated to ensure transmission of the record on appeal. RAP 9.6.

There is no actual evidence that the declarations provided in the record *by Plaintiffs* are anything other than genuine. Furthermore, the Court of Appeals did not rely on CP 1327-1329 to reach its decision. Plaintiffs provide no explanation of why

denying a post-decision request to supplement the court record in any way meets the standards of RAP 13.4(b). It does not.¹

Furthermore, the second version of Elkharwily's Declaration, attached in the appendix to Plaintiffs' Petition for Review at Ex. 3, was never necessary for the Court of Appeals to make a decision. Compare Buckley v. Snapper Power Equip. Co., 61 Wash. App. 932, 941, 813 P.2d 125, 130 (1991). The attachment was an un-signed statement not made under the penalties of perjury, and could not be considered by any court under ER 802, regardless. When, as here, allegedly "newly discovered evidence" is merely designed to contradict a witness in the trial, a new trial is not warranted. Town of Selah v. Waldbauer, 11 Wn. App. 749, 757, 525 P.2d 262 (1974). The email in question relates only to the trial court's denial of Plaintiffs' motion for a new trial. Plaintiffs have not met their

¹ RAP 13.4 does not allow for review of the Court of Appeals' decision on Plaintiff's Motion to Withdraw Opinion and to Correct the Record Supplemental to Motion to Reconsider.

burden to show that the Court of Appeals' decision affirming that denial in any way meets the standards set forth in RAP 13.4(b).

E. The Court of Appeals properly gave deference to the Trial Court's findings of fact.

The Court of Appeals correctly stated the standard of review for factual findings in a bench trial: "We review the factual findings of a trial court in a bench trial for substantial evidence. State v. Homan, 181 Wn.2d 102, 105-06, 330 P.3d 182 (2014). "Substantial evidence' is evidence sufficient to persuade a fair-minded person of the truth of the matter asserted." In re Marriage of Chandola, 180 Wn.2d 632, 642, 327 P.3d 644 (2014). "[T]his court must defer to the finder of fact in resolving conflicting evidence and credibility determinations." State v. N.B., 7 Wn. App. 2d 831, 837, 436 P.3d 358 (2019)." Wall St. Apartments, LLC, 2022 WL 1153458 at 3. Plaintiffs have not directed this court to any case in Washington to the contrary.

1. There is no "judicial admission" for the Court to consider.

Plaintiffs baselessly argue that there are "judicial admissions" that bind the trial court and the Court of Appeals, but cite no alleged admissions. Any references to evidence in the record must be supported by references to the record itself. *See* RAP 10.3(a)(5).

Defendants have made no judicial admissions to impact the ruling in this case. Parker has been clear that she was not involved in removing the fire alarm system after she ended her contract with Plaintiffs. Parker testified she called the fire alarm company posted on the fire alarm box "long before" the wall was demolished. RP 409. She told Elkharwily what the fire alarm company told her. RP 410. Elkharwily said he planned to tear down the lobby wall and remodel the lobby within two months. RP 409-10. Parker was shocked to find that demolition of the wall had begun on September 26 because she had never been told that it would begin that day. RP 410. She notified Elkharwily

right away by text message. *Id.* Parker testified she had nothing to do with removing the fire alarm boxes or disconnecting the system. RP 403. She actually quit before the fire alarm box was removed. RP 414. The evidence shows no text message conversation between Elkharwily and Parker about the fire alarm boxes between the afternoon of September 26, 2012, until September 27, 2012, at 7 p.m. After 7 p.m. on September 27, Elkharwily told Parker the fire alarm system was down. RP 411. That was the first time Parker became aware the fire alarm system had been removed. *Id.*

Plaintiffs cannot simply claim there is a "judicial admission" with no support to obtain further review from this Court. The mere existence of contradictory testimony does not meet the standards necessary to establish a judicial admission. See, e.g., Casper v. Esteb Enterprises, Inc., 119 Wash. App. 759, 767, 82 P.3d 1223, 1228 (2004) (even CR 30(b)(6) testimony is not a judicial admission); Whitney v. State, 24 Wash. App. 836,

842, 604 P.2d 990, 994 (1979) (Washington makes no distinction between testimony of a party and testimony of a witness, neither of which are a judicial admission).

Contradictory testimony is not a judicial admission, but rather, a question of credibility. "Credibility determinations are for the trier of fact and cannot be reviewed on appeal." State v. Camarillo, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990). This Court has gone so far as to state that "...credibility determinations cannot be characterized as inaccurate. Conflicting evidence may still be substantial, so long as some reasonable interpretation of it supports the challenged findings. That there may be other reasonable interpretations of the evidence does not justify reversal of a trial appellate court court's credibility determinations." In re the Personal Restraint Petition of Gentry, 137 Wn. 2d 378, 410-11, 972 P.2d 1250 (1999) (internal citations and quotations omitted). Plaintiff does not get to choose what evidence the trier of fact finds to be credible.

2. There is no conflict in Washington case law regarding the appropriate standard of review.

Plaintiffs contend, without support, that there is "confusion amongst lower courts" about the standard of review of a fact finder's determinations at trial. There is no conflicting authority, and the Court of Appeals acted consistently with wellsettled Washington State case law in giving deference to a factfinder, as set forth above. Although Plaintiffs attempt to assert as a judicial admission the purported CR 30(b)(6) testimony of Gieve Parker – no deposition pursuant to CR 30(b)(6) ever took place in this case. A witness's association with a business does not turn their deposition into a CR 30(b)(6) deposition. Regardless, this case could not resolve whether testimony in a CR 30(b)(6) deposition amounts to a judicial admission, since no such deposition ever took place.

F. Neither the trial court nor the Court of Appeals refused to admit statements of a party opponent for consideration.

Plaintiffs argue that "[r]elevant admissions of a party-opponent are not among those matters with which the trial court has such broad discretion." Pursuant to ER 801(d)(2) – admissions of a party-opponent are admissible as evidence – they are not conclusive. Plaintiffs have not cited anywhere in the trial record where the Superior Court wrongfully excluded evidence from being presented. Plaintiffs are merely displeased with the fact that the trial court found Elkharwily was not credible, and had not presented a persuasive case.

Plaintiffs cite irrelevant law, which does not present any legal controversy that this Court need resolve. *See Powers v. Hastings*, 20 Wn. App. 837, 582 P.2d 897 (1978), *aff'd* 93 Wn.2d 709, 612 P.2d 371 (1980) (statute of frauds does not bar enforcement of a lease with an option to purchase where all parties acknowledged the existence of that agreement in testimony at trial); *Key Design Inc. v. Moser*, 138 Wash. 2d 875,

888, 983 P.2d 653, 661, amended, 993 P.2d 900 (1999) (refusing to adopt a judicial admission exception to the rule requiring that contracts for the sale of real property include a legal description of the property). Key Design, in particular, was a Supreme Court case and not bound by the Court of Appeals in Powers. Furthermore, the case of Sea-Van Invs. Assoc. v. Hamilton, 71 Wn. App. 537, 861 P.2d 485 (1993) – on which Plaintiffs rely – was reversed by this Court at 125 Wn.2d 120, 881 P.2d 1035 (1994) when this Court refused to adopt a rule that judicial admissions can supply a missing material element to a contract. None of these cases apply to the present matter where the statute of frauds does not apply. The disagreement is about what occurred after the contract ended. Plaintiffs are correct that testimony is an equivalent to signed depositions – but this Court limited that to the purpose of creating a writing sufficient to satisfy the statute of frauds. Powers, 20 Wn. App. at 486.

G. There is no controversy pertaining to Plaintiffs' CPA claim to justify review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).

The elements of a CPA claim are well-established. Patrick v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., 196 Wn. App. 398, 385 P.3d 165 (2016), review denied, 187 Wn.2d 1022, 390 P.3d 346 (2017) (CPA claim requires (1) an unfair or deceptive act or practice; (2) in conduct of trade or commerce; (3) that has an impact on public interest; (4) which causes an injury to the plaintiff in their business or property; and (5) a causal link between the unfair practice or deceptive act and the injury.). In this case, Plaintiffs' alleged for the first time in their summary judgment briefing that Defendants violated the WCPA by "filing a lien deceptively and frivolously and without giving the pre-lien notice, model lien notice in violation of RCW 18.27.114." Appellants' Opening Brief, p. 43. This allegation of a violation of RCW 18.27.114, however, was not pled in Plaintiff's Complaint. As a result, as of the time that the Motions for Summary Judgment were ruled on, Plaintiffs had failed to give

Defendants fair notice of this allegation. It should not be considered by this Court. *Saluteen-Maschersky v. Countrywide Funding Corp.*, 105 Wn. App. 846, 857, 22 P.3d 804 (2001).

To survive a Motion for Summary Judgment, an opposing party cannot simply allege material factual disputes. They must show there is admissible evidence of a material factual issue that, when resolved, would have a direct impact on the outcome of the litigation before the Court. Trimble v. Wash. State Univ., 140 Wn. 2d 88, 93, 993 P.2d. 259 (2000). In this case, Plaintiffs did not even allege that Defendants violated RCW 18.27.114 in Mr. Elkharwily's own affidavit. See CP 418-425. Without admissible factual evidence, Plaintiffs cannot rely on speculation or argumentative assertions in their briefing – without so much as an affidavit to support their claim to defeat summary judgment. White v. State, 131 Wn. 2d 1, 9, 929 P.2d 396 (1997). The trial court properly granted summary judgment in favor of Defendants as to the CPA claim in its entirety.

H. Attorney fees were properly awarded in this case for both pre- and post-arbitration fees.

Plaintiffs once again rely on inapplicable law in an attempt to manufacture an argument where there is none. RCW 11.84.900 applies only to probate actions. Moore v. Wash State *Health Care Auth.*, 181 Wash. 2d 299, 332 PP.3d 461 (2014) also does not apply. The trial court found no wrongdoing by Defendants. Plaintiffs' numerous meritless claims were denied either at summary judgment or trial, and only Defendants presented meritorious claims. "[A]ttorney fees may be recovered only when authorized by statute, a recognized ground of equity, or agreement of the parties." Perkins Coie v. Williams, 84 Wn. App. 742-43, 929 P.2d 1215 (1997). The trial court properly granted Defendant's request for attorney fees pursuant to MAR 7.3, RCW 7.06.060, RCW 4.84.185, and CR 11.

RCW 7.06.060 and MAR 7.3 each require the superior court to assess reasonable attorneys' fees and costs against a party who appeals an arbitration award and fails to improve his

position on trial de novo. "If a party offers to settle prior to trial, that settlement offer replaces the arbitration award when determining whether the party who requested trial de novo improved his or her position." *Nelson v. Erickson*, 186 Wn.2d 385, 388, 377 P.3d 196 (2016) (citing RCW 7.06.050(1)(b)).

"MAR 7.3 'was meant to be understood by ordinary people who, if asked whether their position had been improved following a trial de novo, would certainly answer 'no' in the face of a superior court judgment against them for more than the arbitrator awarded." *Bearden v. McGill*, 190 Wn.2d 444, 451, 415 P.3d 100 (2018), as amended (June 21, 2018) (quoting *Cormar, Ltd. v. Sauro*, 60 Wn. App. 622, 623, 806 P.2d 253 (1991)). Similarly, "an ordinary person would consider that the 'amount' of an offer of compromise is the total sum of money that a party offered to accept in exchange for settling the lawsuit." *Nelson v. Erickson*, 186 Wn.2d 385, 390, 377 P.3d 196

(2016) (citing Webster's Third New International Dictionary 72 (2002)).

The arbitrator here entered a net total arbitration award of \$7,949.00 in Plaintiffs' favor. On September 26, 2019, Defendants offered to settle this case by *paying* Plaintiffs \$7,949.00, less the principal amount of the judgment entered against Plaintiffs in a separate lawsuit (\$5,152.70), and a full satisfaction of judgment in the second lawsuit, for a total payment to Plaintiffs of \$2,796.30.

In its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, the Court concluded that judgment should be entered for Defendants and not Plaintiffs. Judgment for \$1,321.57 was entered for Defendants on March 6, 2020. Plaintiffs plainly failed to improve their position on trial de novo. Plaintiffs went from receiving a net of \$2,796.30 from Defendants to owing Defendants \$1,321.57.

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